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ABSTRACT

IZA DP No. 14967 DECEMBER 2021

Gimme Shelter. Social Distancing and 
Income Support in Times of Pandemic*

Strict containment limits the spread of pandemics but is difficult to achieve when people 

must continue to work to avoid poverty. A new role is emerging for income support: by 

enabling people to effectively stay home, it can produce substantial health externalities. 

We examine this issue using data on human mobility and poverty rates in 729 subnational 

regions of Africa, Latin America and Asia during the first year of COVID-19. We focus on 

within-country differential mobility changes between higher- and lower-poverty regions. 

Conditional on country-day fixed effects, shelter-in-place orders decrease work-related 

mobility significantly less in poorer regions. Emergency income support programs seem 

to help people to reduce their mobility on average, mitigating the poverty-driven gap in 

mobility between regions and, hence, regional differences in contagion rates.
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https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/stay-at-home-covid?year=2020-09-07
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Africa
Latin 

America

Middle East 

& Asia

Low & lower-

middle 

income

Upper-middle 

income

(i) (ii) (iii) (iv) (v) (vi) (vii)

Poverty 0.574* -0.252 0.877 0.664 0.039 0.491 0.668

(0.317) (0.511) (0.527) (0.545) (0.614) (0.448) (0.460)

Poverty X Stay-at-Home 5.167*** 5.538*** 6.436*** 1.273** 6.466* 5.544*** 4.699**

(1.166) (1.312) (1.239) (0.451) (2.955) (1.303) (2.088)

Poverty X Stay-at-Home X Income Support -3.320** -3.348** -4.109** 0.350 -4.754 -4.588*** -2.118

(1.283) (1.542) (1.650) (1.111) (2.915) (1.247) (2.376)

R-squared 0.841 0.899 0.834 0.883 0.733 0.802 0.880

Observations 132,639 68,615 35,163 60,214 37,262 61,272 71,367

Country X Day FE Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Region reweighting Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Controls No Yes No No No No No

All countries
Dep. Var.: Mobility to Workplace

Source: authors' estimation using Google reports for workplace mobility, regional poverty rates (from national statistics or authors' estimations) and information on

COVID-19 policy response from OxCGRT for the period February 15-September 3, 2020. Poverty is defined as lower (higher) if region's poverty rate is below (above)

country median poverty rate. Stay-at-Home indicates the period in which national stay-at-home orders, either recommendations or requirements, are imposed. Income

support indicates the period in which government provides income support to those who cannot work or lost their job due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Days when stay-

at-home orders are lifted, following the first lockdown, are excluded. Regional control variables include mobile internet access rate, regional population density (in log)

and average regional score for trust in government (in log). Region reweighting: observations are weighted by 1 over the # of regions in the corresponding country.

Standard errors clustered at country level in parentheses. Significance level: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1



 

                                                           

Low High Low High Low High

(i) (ii) (iii) (iv) (v) (vi) (vii) (viii)

Poverty -0.252 -0.390 -1.559** 2.692*** -2.284*** 2.745*** 1.748** -0.836

(0.511) (0.720) (0.745) (0.624) (0.824) (0.646) (0.635) (0.935)

Poverty X Stay-at-Home 5.538*** 1.066 4.566*** 5.225** 5.897*** 3.906*** 6.617*** 5.826***

(1.312) (1.152) (1.021) (2.182) (1.055) (1.310) (1.908) (1.313)

Poverty X Stay-at-Home X Income Support -3.348** 0.714 -2.350* -4.749* -3.208** -3.121** -5.005** -3.546**

(1.542) (1.816) (1.335) (2.706) (1.252) (1.507) (2.119) (1.638)

R-squared 0.899 0.857

Observations 68,615 51,882

Country X Day FE Yes Yes

Region reweighting Yes Yes

Controls Yes Yes

Source: authors' estimation using Google reports for workplace mobility, regional poverty rates (from national statistics or authors' estimations) and the information on COVID-19 policy

response from OxCGRT for the period February 15-September 3, 2020. Poverty is defined as lower (higher) if region's poverty rate is below (above) country median poverty rate. Stay-at-

Home indicates the period in which national stay-at-home orders (recommendations or requirements) are imposed. Income support indicates the period in which government provides income

support to those who cannot work or lost their job due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Days when stay-at-home orders are lifted, following the first lockdown, are excluded. For columns (i)-

(ii), regional control variables include mobile internet access rate, regional population density (in log) and average regional score for trust in government (in log). For columns (iii)-(viii), not

to loose too many observations, we limit the set of controls to the heterogeneity of interest (e.g. for results with heterogeneous effects by level of mobile internet access, we include a dummy

for a lower level of mobile internet access rate). Region reweighting: observations are weighted by 1 over the # of regions in the corresponding country. Standard errors clustered at country

level in parentheses.  Significance level: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Heterogenous Effects (Work Place Mobility)

Trust in GovernmentMobile Internet Access Population Density

Mobility Types

Workplace

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

69,955

Yes

77,515

Grocery & 

Pharmacy

Yes

Yes

Yes

132,639

0.8470.890 0.885

Yes



 



 

                                                           



 



 



 

https://blogs.worldbank.org/developmenttalk/game-changer-social-protection-six-reflections-covid-19-and-future-cash-transfers
https://blogs.worldbank.org/developmenttalk/game-changer-social-protection-six-reflections-covid-19-and-future-cash-transfers
https://voxdev.org/topic/institutions-political-economy/cushioning-effects-covid-19-poor
https://voxdev.org/topic/institutions-political-economy/cushioning-effects-covid-19-poor
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https://www.bsg.ox.ac.uk/research/research-projects/coronavirus-government-response-tracker
https://www.bsg.ox.ac.uk/research/research-projects/coronavirus-government-response-tracker
https://www.pewresearch.org/global/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2019/02/Pew-Research-Center_Global-Technology-Use-2018_2019-02-05.pdf
https://www.pewresearch.org/global/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2019/02/Pew-Research-Center_Global-Technology-Use-2018_2019-02-05.pdf
https://www.pewresearch.org/global/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2019/02/Pew-Research-Center_Global-Technology-Use-2018_2019-02-05.pdf


 



 

Variable Type
Level of 

Measurement
Description/Values Source

Mobility Index: Workplace / 

Grocery & Pharmacy
Continuous Regional

An index measuring daily changes in the number of

visits or time spent at workplace / groceries or

pharmacies. Measured on (0-100) scale, with 100 as the

baseline or pre-pandemic level.

Google COVID-19 Mobility Reports

Poverty Binary Regional

A dummy variable taking the value 1 if regional poverty

headcount ratio is above the global median of regional

poverty rates.

Official poverty statistics, authors' 

calculations using household surveys

Poverty Headcount Ratio / 

Standardized Poverty Rate
Continuous Regional

Share of regional population living below international

or national poverty lines. Value range [0-100] / Poverty

Headcount Ratio standardized with respect to its global

mean and standard deviation. 

Official poverty statistics, authors' 

calculations using household surveys

Stay-at-Home Orders Binary National

A dummy variable measuring daily changes in stay-at-

home orders (recommendations or requirements) during

the COVID-19 pandemic and taking the value 1 if stay-

at-home orders are enforced.

OxCGRT, Hale et al. (2020)

Income Support Binary National

A dummy variable measuring daily changes in income

support provided to those who lost their jobs or cannot

work due to the COVID-19 pandemic and taking the

value 1 if income support is provided.

OxCGRT, Hale et al. (2020)

Cumulative number of 

COVID-19 cases
Continuous National

A variable measuring daily changes in the number of

cumulative reported COVID-19 cases. 

European Center for Disease Prevention and 

Control 

Mobile Internet Access Binary Regional

A dummy variable taking the value 1 if the share of

survey respondents who own a smartphone or a mobile

phone with internet access is above the country-specific

median.

Afrobarometer 2019, Latinobarometer 2018

Population Density Binary Regional
A dummy variable taking the value 1 if regional

population density is above the country-specific median.

Center for International Earth Science 

Information Network (CIESIN), Columbia 

University

Trust Binary Regional

A dummy variable taking the value 1 if the regional-

level average trust score is above the country-specific

median. 

Afrobarometer 2019, Latinobarometer 2018, 

and Arabarometer 



 

Country
Poverty 
Line*

Welfare Measure** Data Source / Institute Web-link / Web-page (report title)

Argentina 17.1 per capita income
Permanent Household Survey (EPH), 2019 / National Institute of Statistics and Census of 
Argentina (INDEC)

https://www.indec.gob.ar (Condiciones de vida Vol. 4, n° 4)

Belize 9.3 per capita consumption
Living Standard Measurements Survey, 2009 / Government of Belize and the Caribbean 
Development Bank, 2009

http://sib.org.bz/ (Country Poverty Assessment Report)

Bolivia 7.6 per capita income Encuesta de Hogares, 2018 / National Institute of Statistics of Bolivia (INE) https://www.ine.gob.bo (Pobreza y Desigualdad)

Botswana 2.2 per capita consumption Botswana Multitopic Household Survey, 2015/2016 / Statistics Botswana http://www.statsbots.org.bw (Poverty Stats Brief)

Brazil 5.5 per capita income
Continuous National Household Survey (PNAD Contínua), 2018 / Brazilian Institute of 
Geography and Statistics (IBGE)

https://www.ibge.gov.br/estatisticas/ (Sintese de Indicadores Sociais 2019)

Burkina Faso 1.8 per capita consumption
Enquête multisectorielle continue (EMC), 2014 / National Institute of Statistics and 
Demography (INSD)

KWWS���ZZZ�LQVG�EI���3URILO�GH�SDXYUHWp�HW�G·LQpJDOLWpV�

Cambodia 2.5
indirect poverty 
estimation

The Commune Database Predictive Poverty, 2012 / Asian Development Bank, Ministry of 
Planning and United Nations Development Programme

https://www.adb.org/ (Country Poverty Analysis 2014)

Cape Verde 4.6 per capita consumption
III Inquerito as Despesas e Receitas Familiares, 2015 / Departamento das Estatisticas 
Demograficas e Sociais

http://ine.cv (Tables do Perfil da Pobreza)

Chile 11.6 per capita income Encuesta Casen, 2017 / Ministerio de Desarrollo Social http://www.desarrollosocialyfamilia.gob.cl/ (Informe Desarrollo Social 2019)

Colombia 5.3 per capita income
Integrated Household Survey (GEIH), 2018 / National Administrative Department of 
Statistics (DANE)

https://www.dane.gov.co/ (Condiciones vida, pobreza monetaria 18 
departamentos)

Côte d'Ivoire 2.9 per capita consumption
Enquête sur le Niveau de Vie des Ménages, 2015 / Institut National de la Statistique de Côte 
d'Ivoire

http://www.ins.ci/ (Profil de pauvrete)

Dominican 
Republic

6.5 per capita income
Encuesta Nacional Continua de Fuerza de Trabajo (ENCFT), 2019 / Ministerio de Economía, 
Planificación y Desarrollo (MEPYD), Oficina Nacional de Estadística (ONE)

https://mepyd.gob.do (Boletín de estadísticas oficiales de pobreza monetaria 
en la República Dominicana año 5, no 7 )

Ecuador 4.7 per capita consumption Encuesta de Condiciones de Vida, 2013/2014 / Instituto de Estadistica y Censos (INEC) https://www.ecuadorencifras.gob.ec

Egypt 6.6 per capita consumption
Household Income, Expenditure and Consumption Survey (HIECS), 2015 / Central Agency 
for Public Mobilization and Statistics (CAPMAS)

https://www.capmas.gov.eg (Regional poverty calculated by El-Haity and 
Armanious (2018) based (HIECS))

El Salvador 5.1 per capita income
Encuesta de Hogares de Propósitos Múltiples (EHPM), 2018 / Dirección General de 
Estadística y Censos (DIGESTYC)

http://www.digestyc.gob.sv/ (Principales Resultados de la Encuesta de 
Hogares de Propositos Multiples )

Gabon 5.7 per capita consumption
(QTXrWH�*DERQDLVH�SRXU�O·eYDOXDWLRQ�GH�OD�3DXYUHWp�����������'LUHFWLRQ�*pQpUDOH�GH�OD�
Statistique

https://www.statgabon.ga/ (Gabon : Profil de Pauvreté 2017)

Guatemala 6.4 per capita consumption Encuesta Nacional de Condiciones de Vida, 2014 / Instituto Nacional de Estadística
https://www.ine.gob.gt/ (Encuesta Nacional de Condiciones de Vida 2014: 
Principales resultados)

Haiti 3.7 per capita consumption
Enquête Sur les Conditions de Vie des Ménages Après le Séisme (ECVMAS), 2012 / The 
:RUOG�%DQN��2EVHUYDWRLUH�1DWLRQDO�GH�OD�3DXYUHWp�HW�GH�O·([FOXVLRQ�6RFLDOH��213(6�

https://www.worldbank.org/ (Investing in people to fight poverty in Haiti: 
Reflections for evidence-based policy making, World Bank Report)

Honduras 4.9 per capita income
Encuesta Permanente de Hogares de Propósitos Múltiples, 2018 / Instituto Nacional de 
Estadística

https://www.ine.gob.hn (Pobreza Monetaria)

India 2 per capita consumption
SDG dashboard/NITI Aayog (Tendulkar Committee Estimates), 2012 / National Institution 
for Transforming India (NITI Aayog)

https://niti.gov.in/state-statistics https://sdgindiaindex.niti.gov.in (SDG 
Poverty Statistics)

Indonesia 2.7 per capita consumption
National Socioeconomic Survey - Survei Sosial Ekonomi Nasional (Susenas), 2019 / Badan 
Pusat Statistik / Statistics Indonesia

https://www.bps.go.id (Poverty Statistics)

Jamaica 5.8 per capita consumption Jamaica Survey of Living Conditions, 2012 / Statistical Institute of Jamaica (STATIN)
https://statinja.gov.jm/ (Mapping Poverty Indicators, Consumption Based 
Poverty in Jamaica)

Jordan 7.1 per capita consumption
Household Income and Expenditure Survey, 2010 / United Nations Development Program 
(UNDP), Jordan Department of Statistics (DOS)

https://www.undp.org/ (Jordan Poverty Reduction Strategy Final Report 
2013)

Kenya 3.2 per capita consumption
Kenya Integrated Household Budget Survey (KIHBS), 2015/2016 / Kenya National Bureau 
of Statistics

http://statistics.knbs.or.ke (Basic report on wellbeing in Kenya)

Kyrgyzstan 4.2 per capita consumption
Official Statistics on Living Standards, 2018 / National Statistical Committee of the Kyrgyz 
Republic

http://www.stat.kg

Lebanon 15.6 per capita consumption
Household Budget Survey, 2011 / Central Administration of Statistics (CAS) and the World 
Bank

https://www.worldbank.org/ (Measuring poverty in Lebanon using 2011 
HBS Technical report)

Mexico 6.9 per capita income
National Survey of Household Income and Expenditure (ENIGH), 2018 / National Council 
for the Evaluation of Social Development Policy (CONEVAL)

https://www.coneval.org.mx/ (Medicion de la Pobreza)

Mozambique 1.7 per capita consumption
Inquérito aos Orçamentos Familiares, 2014/2015 / The World Bank, National Institute of 
Statistics of Mozambique

https://www.worldbank.org/ (Strong but not Broadly Shared Growth. 
Mozambique Poverty Assessment)

Namibia 2.7 per capita consumption Namibia Household Expenditure Survey, 2015/2016 / Namibia Statistics Agency
https://nsa.org.na/ (Namibia Household Income and Expenditure Survey 
(NHIES) 2015/2016 Report)

Nigeria 3.2 per capita consumption Nigeria General Household Survey (NGHS),  2018/2019 / National Bureau of Statistics http://www.nigerianstat.gov.ng (authors' calculation using ECMVA 2014)

Pakistan 2.9 per capita consumption Household Income and Expenditure Survey, 2015/2016 / The World Bank
https://worldbank.org (Redaelli (2019), Pakistan at 100 : From Poverty to 
Equity)

Paraguay 6.8 per capita income
Encuesta Permanente de Hogares, 2017 / Dirección General de Estadìstica, Encuestas y 
Censos

https://www.dgeec.gov.py (Principales Resultados de Pobreza y Distribucion 
del Ingreso)

Peru 5.8 per capita consumption National Household Survey, 2018 / National Institute of Statistics and Informatics (INEI)
https://www.inei.gob.pe (Evolucion de la Pobreza Monetaria 2007-2018, 
Informe Tecnico)

Philippines 3.1 per capita income Family Income and Expenditure Survey, 2018 / Philippine Statistics Authority
https://psa.gov.ph (Poverty Incidence and Magnitude of Poor Families with 
Measures of Precision, by Region and Province)

Rwanda 1.3 per capita consumption
The Fifth Integrated Household Living Conditions Survey (EICV5), 2016/2017 / National 
Institute of Statistics of Rwanda

https://www.statistics.gov.rw (Rwanda Poverty Profile Report)

Senegal 2.9 per capita consumption
Deuxième Enquête de Suivi de la Pauvreté au Sénégal, 2011 / Agence Nationale de la 
Statistique et de la Démographie

https://www.ansd.sn (Rapport Definitif)

South Africa 3.6 per capita consumption South Africa Living Conditions Survey, 2014/2015 / Statistics South Africa https://www.gov.za (authors' calculation using South Africa LCS 2014/2015)

Togo 3.8 per capita consumption
Questionnaire Unifié des Indicateurs de Base du Bien-être (QUIBB), 2015 / Institut National 
de la Statistique et des Etudes Economiques et Demographiques

https://inseed.tg/ (Cartographie de la pauvrete)

Turkey 12.1 per capita income Income and Living Conditions Survey, 2018 / TurkStat http://www.turkstat.gov.tr/ (Poverty Statistics)

Uganda 1.2 per capita consumption Uganda National Household Survey, 2016/2017  / Uganda Bureau of Statistics https://www.ubos.org/ (Poverty Maps of Uganda, Technical Report)

Uruguay 8.8 per capita income Encuesta Continua de Hogares, 2019 / Observatorio Territorio Uruguay (OPP) https://otu.opp.gub.uy/ (Poverty Statistics by Department)

Zimbabwe 4.2
per capita 
consumption

Poverty Income Consumption and Expenditure Survey (PICES), 2017 / Zimbabwe National 
Statistics Agency

http://www.zimstat.co.zw/ (Zimbabwe Poverty Report 2017)

* in 2011 PPP dollars per capita per day
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Africa
Latin 

America

Middle East 

& Asia

(i) (ii) (iii) (iv) (v)

Stay-at-Home -11.935*** -11.894*** -2.339 -7.245*** -16.595***

(0.872) (0.874) (1.874) (1.296) (1.017)

Stay-at-Home X Poverty 8.214*** 8.206*** 7.755*** 1.310 5.487***

(1.235) (1.233) (2.274) (1.848) (1.507)

Income Support -3.702*** -3.660*** -5.167*** -3.055** -3.098***

(0.702) (0.703) (1.596) (1.418) (1.003)

Income Support X Poverty -3.636*** -3.628*** 2.618 -2.924* -3.877***

(0.904) (0.902) (1.850) (1.596) (1.201)

R-squared 0.742 0.742 0.713 0.776 0.764

Observations 142,601 142,601 36,462 61,452 44,687

Day FE Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Region FE Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Region reweighting Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Lagged COVID-19 information No Yes Yes Yes Yes

Dep. Var.: Mobility to Workplace
All countries

Source: authors' estimation using Google reports for workplace mobility, regional poverty rates (from national statistics or authors'

estimations as described in Table A1) and the information on COVID-19 policy response from OxCGRT for the period February 15-

September 3, 2020. Stay-at-Home is a dummy indicating period in which national stay-at-home orders (recommendations or requirements)

are imposed. Income support is a dummy indicating period in which any type of income support was provided in response to COVID-19

pandemic. Poverty is defined as lower (higher) if region's poverty rate is below (above) median poverty rate based on the sample of all 729

subnational regions across 43 countries (columns (i) and (ii)) or the sample of regions within a continent/group of countries being

considered (columns (iii)-(vii)). Robustness checks include the lagged cumulative number of COVID-19 cases as control (the data from the

European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control). Region reweighting: observations are weighted by 1 over the # of regions in the

corresponding country. Standard errors clustered at region level in parentheses. Significance level: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1



 


